STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties to this proceeding were divorced following a very brief proceeding which occurred before the Family Court of Fayette County, West Virginia on October 6, 2003.

On that date, the Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, accompanied by her former husband, Fredrick Allen Fernandez, traveled to Mr. Fernandez's attorney's office in Fayetteville, Fayette County, West Virginia for the apparent purpose of seeking legal advice regarding a divorce proceeding. At this time, the parties had been married for approximately fourteen (14) years and eleven (11) months and had one one (1) minor child born from their marriage. The Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, was employed as a caregiver with a gross monthly income of Six Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$650.00) per month. The Appellee, Fredrick Allen Fernandez, was employed as an underground mine supervisor with a gross monthly income of Seven Thousand Dollars (\$7,000.00) per month, according to the Child Support Formula prepared by the Family Court at the final hearing in this action.<sup>1</sup> Mrs. Fernandez also operated under a reading disability which inhibited her ability to both read and comprehend written materials. Mrs. Fernandez's husband, the Appellee herein, was aware of the fact that his wife had a seventh grade reading comprehension level at the time of

---

<sup>1</sup>There is no explanation in the record of this proceeding as to the discrepancy between Mr. Fernandez's gross monthly income as noted on the Joint Financial Statement filed by the respective parties with the Court and that contained in the Child Support Formula. Mr. Fernandez had noted on the Joint Financial Statement that he had gross monthly earnings of Four Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$4,500.00) per month, as opposed to the Child Support Formula, which indicates that Mr. Fernandez had gross monthly earnings of Seven Thousand Dollars (\$7,000.00) per month.

the scheduled October 6, 2003 attorney visit.

After spending an unknown period of time in Mr. Fernandez's attorney's office on October 6, 2003, Mrs. Fernandez was personally served with a copy of a Petition for Divorce, with accompanying Summons, which had been filed in the Fayette County Circuit Clerk's office at 1:49 p.m., on October 6, 2003. The Summons issued by the Fayette County Circuit Clerk's office advised Mrs. Fernandez that she had a period of twenty (20) days from receipt of service to file an Answer to her husband's Divorce Petition with the Fayette County Circuit Clerk's Office. At that time, Mrs. Fernandez had not had the opportunity to obtain independent legal advice regarding the divorce proceeding between the respective parties herein. Ten (10) minutes later, at 1:59 p.m. on October 6, 2003, the Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, filed a pro se Answer to her husband's Petition for Divorce in the Fayette County Circuit Clerk's office. At or about that time, there was apparently some further discussions between the Appellee, Fredrick Allen Fernandez, accompanied by his counsel, and Mrs. Fernandez, regarding property settlement negotiations. At that time, there was a list of pre-prepared issues which Appellee's counsel subsequently discussed with Mrs. Fernandez regarding property settlement; following this meeting between Appellee, his counsel, and Mrs. Fernandez, a property settlement agreement was prepared by Appellee's counsel's office staff reflecting the purported agreement between the respective parties, which both parties also subsequently signed before Appellee's counsel's secretary.<sup>2</sup> During the process of preparing the Property Settlement Agreement, Appellee's counsel's secretary also assisted the respective parties

---

<sup>2</sup>Mrs. Fernandez has indicated on the record of this proceeding that Appellee's counsel's secretary did not identify herself as a notary public at the time that the purported agreement between the parties was signed. Mrs. Fernandez also contests that all issues contained on the list submitted by Appellee's counsel were discussed during the course of the October 6, 2003 meeting.

in preparing a Joint Financial Statement and Joint Parenting Plan for filing with the Family Court of Fayette County, West Virginia. The purported Property Settlement Agreement, Joint Financial Statement and Joint Parenting Plan were subsequently filed in the Fayette County Circuit Clerk's office at 3:01 p.m. on October 6, 2003. Later that same day on October 6, 2003, at 3:21 p.m., Appellee's counsel proceeded to file the Return of Service with the Fayette County Circuit Clerk's office indicating that the Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, had chosen to accept service of Appellee's Petition for Divorce.<sup>3</sup> At that same time, at 3:21 p.m. on October 6, 2003, Appellee's counsel also filed a Consent to Final Hearing Before Expiration of Time to Answer which had been signed by both of the respective parties herein, consenting to allow the Family Court of Fayette County, West Virginia to conduct a final hearing in the parties divorce proceeding prior to the expiration of the twenty (20) day time period provided in Rule 4 of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* for Mrs. Fernandez to file a responsive pleading to Mr. Fernandez's Petition for Divorce.

Then again, earlier in the day on October 6, 2003, beginning at 2:45 p.m., according to records obtained by Appellant's counsel from the Fayette County Family Court, and prior to the time that many of the aforementioned documents had been filed by Appellee's counsel with the Fayette County Circuit Clerk's office, the Appellee and his counsel proceeded before the Family Court Judge in Fayette County with the intent of finalizing the divorce proceedings between the parties herein. The Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, received no formal notice of the purported final hearing in the parties' divorce proceeding; this is in spite of the fact that Mrs. Fernandez did not

---

<sup>3</sup>No explanation has been provided by Appellee's counsel as to why the Acceptance of Service signed by the Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, was filed subsequent to the filing of Appellant's Answer to the Petition for Divorce, the purported Property Settlement Agreement, Joint Financial Statement and Joint Parenting Plan.

waive her right to receive formal written notice of the final hearing in her Answer to Appellee's Petition for Divorce. Appellee's counsel, while proceeding to the final hearing with Appellee, advised the Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, that there was no need for her attend the impromptu hearing and that she should wait in her husband's automobile in the parking lot of the Family Court Judge's office in Fayetteville, West Virginia.<sup>4</sup>

When the spoils of the parties' approximately fifteen (15) year marriage had been equitably divided by the Family Court, pursuant to the October 6, 2003 Property Settlement Agreement purportedly reached between the parties, the Appellee, Fredrick Allen Fernandez, had received the exclusive use and possession of the significant portion of the parties' marital assets, which included the parties' marital home and the exclusive possession of his 401K Plan through his employment, a portion of which had been accumulated during the parties' marriage. The Appellee further obtained a waiver, pursuant to the parties' Separation Agreement, of the Appellant's claim for any form of alimony, in spite of the vast disparity in income of the respective parties and the parties' approximately fifteen (15) year marriage. The Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, received the sole and exclusive use and possession of her 1993 Crown Victoria automobile and a certain outbuilding belonging to Appellant situate at the former marital residence, in addition to her personal belongings. The Appellee received a total of One Hundred Twelve Thousand Dollars (\$112,000.00) in marital assets, according to their designated value taken from the parties' Joint Financial Statement prepared on October 6, 2003, and the Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez,

---

<sup>4</sup>The Appellee, nor his counsel, advised the Family Court Judge of the Appellant being present in the Court's parking lot at the time of convening the final hearing in this matter, nor did the Family Court Judge ask of the Appellant's whereabouts prior to proceeding to final hearing on this action.

received an automobile with a value of Two Thousand Two Hundred Dollars (\$2,200.00), according to the parties' Joint Financial Statement, with a lien on the vehicle of the same value.<sup>5</sup>

The Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, upon receiving a copy of the Final Divorce Decree from the Fayette County Circuit Clerk's office, but due to her reading comprehension level, did not understand her rights of appeal as set forth in the Family Court Judge's office's notice and, therefore, did not appeal any provisions of the October 6, 2003 Final Order to the Circuit Court of Fayette County, West Virginia. Later, upon consultation with an attorney, Mrs. Fernandez was advised that, incidental to signing the Property Settlement Agreement prepared by Appellee's counsel on October 6, 2003, that she had waived her interest in all of her husband's pension plans, had waived any interest which she had formerly held in the former marital residence, and had forever waived her right to receive spousal support from the Appellee.

On April 5, 2004, the Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, by her present counsel, filed a Motion to Set Aside the October 6, 2003 Final Divorce Decree pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*.<sup>6</sup> Aside from alleging fairly unscrupulous conduct on the part of Appellee's counsel during the process of finalizing the parties' divorce action, Mrs. Fernandez alleged allegations in her Rule 60(b) motion that she did not fully understand the provisions of the

---

<sup>5</sup>There is nothing in the Joint Financial Statement submitted by the parties to the Court which indicates the actual value of the outbuilding received by the Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, incidental to the parties Property Settlement Agreement, dated October 6, 2003. There is also no supporting financial documentation with the Joint Financial Statement verifying the values to certain property items designated on the Statement or the liens purportedly attached thereto.

<sup>6</sup>The Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, filed her motion to set aside the October 6, 2003 Final Divorce Decree within one (1) year from the date of entry of said Order as required under the provisions of Rule 60(b) of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*.

Property Settlement Agreement prepared by Appellee's counsel, that she did not have sufficient opportunity to obtain independent legal advice regarding the Property Settlement Agreement prior to signing the same, that she had failed to receive formal written notice of the final hearing scheduled before the Family Court in this action and that the Family Court was without sufficient authority or jurisdiction, in view of Mrs. Fernandez's lack of attendance at the final hearing, to enter the Final Order in the parties' divorce proceeding or to ratify the provisions of the Property Settlement Agreement previously signed by the respective parties earlier that day.

A hearing was subsequently conducted before the Family Court of Fayette County, West Virginia on the Appellant's Motion to Set Aside Final Divorce Decree on July 2, 2004 at which time the Family Court denied Appellant's motion. Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, subsequently appealed the denial of her Rule 60(b) motion to the Circuit Court of Fayette County, West Virginia. By Order entered on December 1, 2004, the Circuit Court of Fayette County, West Virginia denied Mrs. Fernandez's Petition for Appeal. The Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, now appeals to this Honorable Court from the December 1, 2004 Order of the Circuit Court of Fayette County, West Virginia.

### III.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. WHETHER THE FAMILY COURT JUDGE ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE OCTOBER 6, 2003 FINAL DIVORCE DECREE?
- II. WHETHER THE FAMILY COURT JUDGE ERRED IN PROCEEDING TO FINAL HEARING IN THIS ACTION, AND IN RATIFYING THE PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT IN ISSUE HEREIN WHEN THE PETITIONER HAD NOT BEEN SERVED WITH NOTICE OF THE FINAL HEARING, AND WAS NOT PRESENT AT THE FINAL HEARING, AND WHEN THE PROPERTY

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT SIGNED BY THE RESPECTIVE PARTIES  
APPEARED ON ITS FACE TO BE INEQUITABLE TO THE PETITIONER  
AFTER A FIFTEEN YEAR MARRIAGE TO THE RESPONDENT HEREIN?

IV.

ARGUMENT

- A. THE FAMILY COURT OF FAYETTE COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA ERRED IN REFUSING TO SET ASIDE THE OCTOBER 6, 2003 FINAL DIVORCE DECREE. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FAYETTE COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA FURTHER ERRED IN UPHOLDING THE FAMILY COURT'S DECISION DENYING THE PETITIONER'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE FINAL DIVORCE DECREE PURSUANT TO RULE 60(b) OF THE *WEST VIRGINIA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE*.

Rule 60(b) of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* provides that:

"On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or a party's legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) Mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect, or unavoidable cause; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) the judgment is void; (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application; or (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment. The motion shall be made within a reasonable time, and for reasons (1), (2), and (3) not more than one year after the judgment, order or proceeding was entered or taken. A motion under this subdivision (b) does not affect the finality of a judgment or suspend its operation. This rule shall not limit the power of a court to entertain an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment, order or proceeding, or to grant statutory relief in the same action to a defendant not served with a summons in that action, or to set aside a judgment for fraud upon the court. Writs of coram nobis, coram vobis, petitions for rehearing, bills of review and bills in the nature of a bill of review, are abolished, and the procedure for obtaining any relief from a judgment shall be by motion as prescribed in these rules or by an independent action."

In analyzing the applicability of Rule 60(b) of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*, this Court has recognized on a number of different occasions that the rule should be given a liberal construction. See, e.g. *Kelly v. Belcher*, 155 W.Va. 757, 773, 187 S.E.2d. 617, 626 (1972); *Graley v. Graley*, 174 W.Va. 396, 327 S.E.2d 158, 160 (1985). If there is any doubt as to whether relief should be granted, such doubt should be resolved in favor of setting aside the judgment or order so that the case can be heard on the merits. See *McDaniel v. Romcno*, 155 W.Va. 875, 878, 190 S.E.2d 8, 11 (1972).

This Court has also previously recognized that only the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has the power to promulgate rules for the conduct of all judicial cases and proceedings. To that end, this Court has adopted the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* to be followed by trial courts of record in this state. These rules apply to actions for divorce and are to be construed so as to do substantial justice. *Bego v. Bego*, 177 W.Va. 74, 350 S.E.2d 701 (1986). In *Bego*, this Court also expressly recognized the applicability of Rule 60(b) of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* to an action seeking to set aside a final divorce decree.

In the instant case, the October 6, 2003 Final Divorce Decree should be set aside pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* on several different grounds. First of all, the Order should have been set aside under Rule 60(b) because the Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, received no formal notice of the spontaneously scheduled final hearing; this is in spite of the fact that the Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, did not waive her right to receive notice of hearing in her pro se Answer to Appellee's Petition for Divorce, which had been filed earlier in the day at the Fayette County Circuit Clerk's office.

This Court has previously recognized the application of Rule 60(b) of the *West Virginia*

*Rules of Civil Procedure* to cases involving failure to properly notice a party to trial or other hearing. See *Cordell v. Jarrett*, 171 W.Va. 596, 301 S.E.2d 227 (1982); *Midkiff v. Keeney*, 180 W.Va. 55, 375 S.E.2d 419 (1988); *Blankenship ex rel. Blankenship v. Bowen's Roof Bolts Sales and Service, Inc.*, 184 W.Va. 587, 402 S.E.2d 256 (1991). In all of the foregoing cases, this Court reversed decisions of the circuit courts, which had denied the respective appellants' Rule 60(b) motions, for failure to receive proper notice of hearing from the opposing party or the court. This Court ultimately held that the decisions of the circuit courts denying the Rule 60(b) motions constituted an abuse of discretion. The same standard should be applied in the instant case, where the Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, did not receive formal notice of the spontaneously scheduled October 6, 2003 final hearing before the Family Court of Fayette County, West Virginia. This is also in spite of the fact that Appellant had been physically present at Appellee's counsel's office for an unknown period of time earlier in the day.

Further compounding the problem with Appellant's failure to receive formal notice of the October 6, 2003 final hearing is that Appellee's counsel had apparently advised Appellant shortly before the scheduled hearing that there was no need for her attend the proceedings which had been scheduled just moments earlier with the Court.<sup>7</sup> These facts are largely undisputed in the record of this proceeding. Such conduct on the part of Appellee's counsel calls into question the motivations of counsel in rendering such advice to the Appellant, particularly when the parties had reached a purported property settlement agreement and were proceeding to the Family Court to ask that the

---

<sup>7</sup>While Appellee's counsel asserts that he verbally advised Appellant of the October 6, 2003 final hearing, there is nothing in the record of this proceeding indicating what Appellee's counsel may have advised Appellant regarding the hearing, or that Appellant understood the nature and purpose of the hearing

purported agreement be ratified by the Court. Based upon the representations of Appellee's counsel, the Appellant, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, proceeded to wait in the Appellee's automobile, which was parked in the parking lot at the Family Court's offices.<sup>8</sup>

This Court has also previously recognized the application of Rule 60(b) of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* to situations involving a party's inability to retain counsel and unconscionable conduct on the part of an opposing party. See generally *Graley v. Graley*, 174 W.Va. 396, 327 S.E.2d 158 (1985). In the context of domestic relations matters, this Court has also seen fit to apply the liberal interpretation provided to Rule 60(b) of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* to situations where the moving party failed to timely appeal the underlying Order from which relief is sought. See *State of West Virginia ex rel. Bess v. Berger*, 203 W.Va. 662, 510 S.E.2d 496 (1998).

Under the facts and circumstances of the instant case, adequate grounds also exist to set aside the October 6, 2003 Final Divorce Decree due to Appellant's inability to obtain independent counsel prior to signing the purported property settlement agreement, as well as the conduct of the Appellee and his counsel, both during the process of negotiating the purported property settlement agreement and in dissuading the Appellant from attending the scheduled final hearing. Of particular concern to Appellant and her counsel in the instant appeal is that Appellant has testified that she did not understand the contents of any of the divorce paperwork which she signed at Appellee's counsel's office on October 6, 2003. This is because at the time of the meeting between Appellant,

---

<sup>8</sup>Even though Appellee and his counsel were aware of Appellant's presence in the parking lot at the Family Court offices on October 6, 2003, there is nothing in the record from the October 6, 2003 final hearing which indicates that either the Appellee or his counsel advised the Court of the Appellant's presence in the parking lot, nor did the Court inquire as to the Appellant's whereabouts prior to the time of convening the final hearing in this matter.

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