STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The concise chronology of the facts and circumstances giving rise to this matter are as follows:

1. On Friday, October 3, 2003 from 9:55 a.m. to 10:05 a.m., Respondent herein, Petitioner below, Frederick Allen Fernandez, conferred with James W. Keenan, Attorney at Law, with regard to expected divorce proceedings to be undertaken by Mr. Fernandez. This initial consultation was accomplished and Mr. Fernandez informed Mr. Keenan that he expected to return and undertake employment of Mr. Keenan in pursuit of his expected divorce.

2. On October 6, 2003, Mr. Keenan's client, Mr. Fernandez, returned to Mr. Keenan's office and Mr. Keenan was employed and Mr. Keenan from 9:00 a.m. to 9:10 a.m. conferred with Mr. Fernandez and the opposing party, Mrs. Fernandez, for the purpose of ascertaining their meeting of the minds as to agreement. During that 10 minute period Mr. Keenan undertook written notes on the agreement and the "New Matter Report" which provided basic information and contract as to the case.

3. Thereafter, commencing at 9:15 a.m. and concluding at 11:00 a.m. on that date, Mr. Keenan's legal assistant, Connie Kessler, met with the parties, prepared an entire divorce package, with the exception of the answer to be filed by Mrs. Fernandez, a joint financial statement and a joint parenting plan and waiver of waiting period for divorce. This documentation was signed by the parties and the documentation notarized and the parties were provided with a copy of the same.

4. On October 6, 2003, Mr. Fernandez accompanied by his Counsel, Mr. Keenan, appeared in the Family Court of Fayette County, West Virginia from 2:45 p.m. to 2:55 p.m. The documentation was presented to the Court, the Court reviewed the documentation, undertook Mr. Fernandez's testimony as to jurisdiction and grounds and the documentation was approved and entered by the Court.

5. The Appellant, Respondent Below, Lyndall Sarah Fernandez, did not file an appeal of the "Final Divorce Decree" which was entered by the Court on October 6, 2003. Paragraph 3 of the "Order and Judgment" portion of the Final Divorce Decree provided that the parties thereby waived any appeal of that Order as they agreed with all terms therein.

6. On or about April 5, 2004, Appellant, Respondent Below, Ms. Fernandez, filed her "Motion to Set Aside Final Divorce Decree".

7. An evidentiary hearing in relation thereto was conducted by the Family Court of Fayette County, West Virginia, on July 2, 2004 and on October 20, 2004, the Family Court of Fayette County, West Virginia, entered its "Order Denying Respondent's Motion to Set Aside Final Divorce Decree".

8. On or about November 2, 2004, Appellant, Respondent Below, Ms. Fernandez, filed her "Petition for Appeal" in the Circuit Court of Fayette County, West Virginia citing only two grounds neither of which made reference to any finding of fact or conclusion of law included in the Family Court's "Order Denying Respondent's Motion to Set Aside Final Divorce Decree", aforesaid, as being clearly erroneous as to the previous or an abuse of discretion as to the latter.

9. By its "Order", the Circuit Court of Fayette County, West Virginia, the Honorable Charles M. Vickers, Circuit Judge, presiding, refused the aforesaid Petition for Appeal with appropriate findings therein and concluding that after its review under the appropriate findings of fact under the clearly erroneous standard and review of the application of law to the findings of fact under an abuse of discretion standard, that the Family Court had held a hearing on the Rule 60(b) Motion, had considered the evidence and made findings of fact and conclusions as to said Motion. This ruling was consistent with §51-2A-14(b) of the *West Virginia Code*, as amended.

10. Appellant, Respondent Below, Ms. Fernandez, filed her "Petition for Appeal" on or about February 15, 2005.

11. Appellee, Petitioner Below, Mr. Fernandez, filed his Response to Petition for Appeal on or about March 17, 2005.

III.

ALLEGED OMISSIONS AND INACCURACIES AND ARGUMENT

Petitioner's Petition for Appeal asserts various facts which are not supported by the record and which, in some circumstances, the Court even made findings of fact contrary thereto. Those are as follows:

1. It is asserted that Mrs. Fernandez operated under a reading disability which inhibited her ability to both read and comprehend written materials. This representation was made to the trial Judge, the Honorable Janet Frye Steele, during proceedings of July 2, 2004. The Court undertook incisive inquiry as to the usual activities and employment of Mrs. Fernandez and failed to find or conclude in any way that Mrs. Fernandez operated under a reading disability.

2. It is asserted that Mrs. Fernandez had not had the opportunity to obtain independent legal advice regarding the divorce. This is absolutely refuted in the record as Mr. Fernandez testified without refuter that the parties had discussed divorce at least 2 weeks beforehand and that Mr. Fernandez had seen Mr. Keenan on Friday, October 3, 2003. Mr. Keenan further represented, without refuter, that he specifically informed Mrs. Fernandez that if she wished to obtain independent legal counsel she could do so and that he was not her counsel and was not going to advise her. This is corroborated by Mr. Fernandez's testimony. Furthermore, after meeting with Mr. Keenan and Mr. Fernandez on the morning of October 6, 2003 from 9:00 to 9:10 a.m. and then Mr. Keenan's legal assistant from 9:15 to 11:00 a.m., the parties departed Mr. Keenan's office and did not return until 2:45 p.m. which was 3 hours and 45 minutes later. During the interim, Mrs. Fernandez had every opportunity in Fayetteville, West Virginia or elsewhere to obtain legal counsel had she wished to do so. Furthermore, Ms. Fernandez testified to the effect that she had spoken with several lawyers following the entry of the Final Divorce Decree with regard to possible appeal of the October 6, 2003 Final Divorce Decree.

3. It is represented that "there was a list of prepared issues" which Appellee's Counsel subsequently discussed with Mrs. Fernandez regarding property settlement. This is refuted by the

record without competing evidence. Mr. Keenan and Mr. Fernandez represented to the Court that the notes of the agreement were taken down during the ten minute conference and the notes of the agreement were given to the legal assistant. The Appellant has, by footnote number 2, asserted that Mrs. Fernandez contests that all issues contained on the list were discussed during the meeting. Competing evidence was offered during the hearing of July 2, 2004 and the Court found that Mrs. Fernandez's representations were simply not credible and that all of the issues were discussed. Furthermore, as revealed by the record of July 2, 2004, meaning the CD thereof, Ms. Fernandez testified that in referring to Mr. Keenan's activities during the discussion of October 6, 2003, "you wrote the whole time we was in there". She further confirmed during inquiry by the sitting Judge, Judge Steele, that she recalled discussion of all of the itemized issues except alimony.

4. It is represented that Mr. Keenan told Mrs. Fernandez "that she should wait in her husband's automobile" while the divorce hearing was being conducted. The record clearly reveals without refuter that Mr. Keenan simply informed Mrs. Fernandez that she was not needed and it was not necessary for her to attend the final hearing in view of the fact that all of the documentation had been signed; Mr. Keenan, on no occasion whatsoever, informed her that she should wait in her husband's automobile in the parking lot.

5. It is represented that Mr. Fernandez received the exclusive use and possession of the significant portion of the parties' marital assets which included the parties' marital home. Appellant fails in her Petition to address the fact that at the time of the hearing of October 6, 2003, the minor child of the parties was 14 years of age; that Mrs. Fernandez would be living rent

free for approximately 46 months and that the parties had refinanced their debts with proceeds from refinancing their mortgage including the parties' automobiles and that Mr. Fernandez took all of that indebtedness by agreeing to pay the debt on the marital residence. The record further supports the finding and conclusion that the agreement of the parties was consistent with their specific desires as expressed on October 6, 2003 to Mr. Keenan.

6. The Appellant errs to refer to Mr. Keenan as having undertaken "fairly unscrupulous conduct". The record supports the finding and conclusion that Mr. Keenan did exactly what is expected of a divorce attorney which is to inform the opposing party that he was not her counsel and that if she wanted counsel, she would have to go elsewhere to get it; that he undertook the agreement as was related to him by the parties; that it was correctly included in a written agreement and in a final divorce decree and that the parties had an opportunity to review and sign the same; that Mr. Keenan acted consistent with his obligation to deal with "opposing counsel" that being Mrs. Fernandez pursuant to the applicable *Trial Court Rule 1.04(g)*, in a straightforward and matter-of-fact fashion. The record supports the conclusion that Mr. Keenan did not in any way offer advice to the opposing party and that the opposing party was given every opportunity to undertake independent counsel in accordance with her desires. Mr. Keenan was obligated to deal with the opposing party as the opposing counsel under the law and did so. The fact that the opposing party undertook the perils of self representation does not under the law inure against Mr. Fernandez, the Petitioner below. Ms. Fernandez confirmed, during the hearing of July 2, 2004, that Mr. Keenan had informed her that he was Mr. Fernandez's lawyer and this was corroborated by the unrefuted testimony of Mr. Fernandez and the representation by Mr. Keenan

as an officer of the Court.

7. The Petitioner further asserts that the Family Court was without "sufficient authority or jurisdiction" to enter the final order in the proceeding. What would the Petitioner advance as being sufficient authority or jurisdiction other than the invocation of the jurisdiction of the Court by appropriate pleadings, the presentation of an agreement as envisioned under the law, the presentation of an agreed-upon final divorce decree and other appropriate documentation. Mr. Fernandez appeared for the final hearing consistent with the parties' agreement and agreed-upon decree, offered evidence as to jurisdiction and grounds, the appropriate documentation was presented and the divorce was finalized. What other authority or jurisdiction is needed? Furthermore, the record reveals that the parties had satisfied §48-7-201 of the *West Virginia Code* by the filing of their joint disclosure of assets and liabilities and that the Court took notice of the filing of the same during its final divorce hearing of October 6, 2003 and it should be noted that inquiry was made of Mr. Fernandez as to whether the agreement was fair and equitable and undertaken by no fraud, duress, coercion or undue influence and the Court noted that the agreement which had been signed was incorporated or set forth in its entirety in the Final Divorce Decree which had been signed by the parties giving full force and effect to §48-6-201(a) of the *West Virginia Code* which provides that if the Court finds that a separation agreement is fair and reasonable, so on and so forth, and that the parties have expressed themselves in terms which, if incorporated in a judicial order, would be enforceable by a Court in a future proceeding(s), "then the Court shall conform the relief . . . to the separation agreement of the parties". Clearly, the Court was required in this case to conform the decree to the separation agreement of the parties.

8. By inquiry of Appellant's Counsel by Judge Steele during the hearing of July 2, 2004, specific grounds as the Rule 60(b) motion was sought. Of the six reasons identified in Rule 60(b), the Appellant's Counsel was able to refer only to Number Six meaning "any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment". In support thereof, Appellant's Counsel asserts, apparently, that the agreement itself was unconscionable. This is not supported by the record. Appellant's Counsel asserts that there was a lack of due process. This is not supported by the record. The agreement of the parties, the pleadings, the Final Divorce Decree and the hearing were all prepared and conducted in accordance with law. The only criticism that Petitioner can level as to the entire litigation was that there was no written notice of the final hearing. However, the record supports the conclusion that the parties on October 6, 2003 were both eager to be divorced, that the parties' signed the waiver of the 20-day waiting period, that the parties knew that Mr. Keenan had requested a hearing that date consistent with their desire and request, that the Appellant, Mrs. Fernandez, had actual notice in fact of the proceeding and as a matter of fact, she specifically with that knowledge, failed to attend the proceeding choosing rather to remain in a vehicle in the parking lot at the Family Court. Appellant's argument that she had no notice of the proceeding is not supported by the record. Her own testimony belies her assertion in the Petition for Appeal. She testified that she indeed knew of the proceeding and chose to remain in the vehicle outside. Appellant asserts in various footnotes and elsewhere, that the Court did not inquire of the whereabouts of Mrs. Fernandez nor did Mr. Keenan or Mr. Fernandez inform the Court as to her whereabouts. The Court is of no obligation to do so nor is Mr. Keenan or Mr. Fernandez under obligation to do so. Appellant asserts that Mr. Keenan may have verbally

advised Mrs. Fernandez of the final hearing but that there was nothing in the record indicating what Mr. Keenan may have advised the Appellant regarding the hearing. The record does not support that conclusion at all; Mrs. Fernandez herself stated, during proceedings of July 2, 2004, that Mr. Keenan informed her that the final hearing was to be conducted and that it was not necessary for her to attend because all of the paperwork had been signed.

9. The Appellant asserts that something was, apparently, improper about the notes of Mr. Keenan as to the substantive agreement and that Mr. Fernandez provided the sole input into the preparation of the property settlement agreement. The record does not support this finding or conclusion at all. The record supports the conclusion that Mr. Keenan took notes on Mr. Fernandez's explanation of the agreement in the presence of Mrs. Fernandez. Furthermore, Mrs. Fernandez read and signed the agreement and proposed final divorce decree which explicitly and specifically sets forth the agreement. The record reveals that Mrs. Fernandez conferred with counsel in Beckley, West Virginia during the time for appeal of the Final Divorce Decree rendered on October 6, 2003. The record reveals that an appeal was not filed because Mrs. Fernandez, according to the representation of her Counsel, did not have sufficient funds. This is not a reason under the law to extend a period of appeal and all of the issues which have been asserted by Appellant in her Petition for Appeal are appellate issues. The Motion to Set Aside Final Divorce Decree is simply an oblique effort to overturn a lawful decree which has not been appealed. Mrs. Fernandez simply suffers "buyer's remorse" after the entry of the Decree. The record does not support unconscionability with regard to the substantive agreement; the record does not support unconscionability as to procedure of undertaking the agreement; the record does

not support any argument as to surprise, "bushwhack", or misconduct of an adverse party. The record supports the findings and conclusions that Mrs. Fernandez undertook litigation; that she was her own counsel in the litigation under the applicable *Trial Court Rule 1.04(g)*; that she had an opportunity to have input into the agreement, to negotiate with her husband and her husband's attorney; that she had an opportunity to undertake independent counsel and did not do so; that she had an opportunity to attend the final hearing and knowingly failed to do so; that she had an opportunity to file an appeal of the Final Divorce Decree, and that she did not do so.

Finally, the authority cited by the Appellant almost without exception refers to cases in which judgment was granted by default and the Court reversed the judgment based upon lack of notice. This is clearly not the factual circumstance of the instant case; the Appellant, Mrs. Fernandez, had notice in fact and was counsel of record and simply failed to attend the final hearing of October 6, 2003. All of this is borne out by the record of July 2, 2004.

The leading case that the Appellant cites in her behalf is the matter of Preece vs. Preece, 195 W.Va. 460 (1995).

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